IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

3				
TED MICHAEL DONKO,)	NO.	81075	Electronically Filed
Appellant,)			Dec 09 2020 04:33 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown
vs.)			Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,))			
Respondent.				
APPELLANT'	S OPE	NING I	BRIEF	
(Appeal from Jud	dgment	of Con	viction)	

DARIN F. IMLAY
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.
309 South Third Street, #226
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610
(702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

AARON D. FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The court violated Donko's federal and state due process rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments by admitting an unconstitutionally unreliable in-court identification.

- II. The Court violated Donko's protections from double jeopardy by improperly increasing his sentence.
- III. The court erred in retaining jurisdiction over restitution without legal basis.
- IV. The Court violated the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth

 Amendments and the Nevada Constitution by rejecting
 proposed defense jury instructions.
- V. The State committed misconduct, violating the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the Nevada Constitution.
- VI. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant committed these crimes.
- VII. Cumulative error warrants reversal of these convictions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a complaint on November 26, 2019, alleging two counts of battery with use of a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm; two counts of attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon; and one count of ownership or possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. (I 1). After a preliminary hearing on December 18, 2019, Donko was bound over to District Court. (I 7). On December 19, 2019, the State filed an Information alleging two counts of battery with use resulting in substantial

bodily harm; three counts of attempt murder with use; one count of assault with a deadly weapon; one count of discharging a firearm at or into an occupied structure; and one count of ownership or possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. (I 8). On December 20, 2019, Donko appeared in district court and entered a plea of not guilty. (I 205). On February 7, 2020, the defense filed a motion to withdraw due to conflict. (I 120). The court denied the motion. (I 208). On February 10, 2020, the State filed an Amended Information reflecting severance of the charge of ownership or possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. (I 123). On February 13, 2020, the State filed a Second Amended Information alleging the bifurcated weapon charge. (I 127). Jurors convicted on all counts after a four-day trial. The court sentenced Donko to 24-60 months on count I; 24-60 months on count II, concurrent: 36-96 months on Count III, plus a consecutive term of 36-96 months for the weapon enhancement; 36-96 months on Count IV, plus consecutive 36-96 months for the weapon enhancement, consecutive to Count III; 36-96 months on Count V, plus a consecutive term of 12-30 months for the weapon enhancement, consecutive to Count IV; 12-30 months on Count VI, concurrent to Count V; 12-30 months on Count VII, concurrent to Count VI; and 12-30 months on Count VIII, concurrent with Count VII, with 150 days credit for time served. The State filed the

judgment of conviction on April 28, 2020. Although the judgment of conviction provides for Counts I and II to run consecutively to Counts III, IV, and V, the judgment also provides for an aggregate sentence of 144-378 months. (I 194). On June 3, 2020, the State filed a motion to address the aggregate sentence calculations based on a variance between the aggregate sentence and the individual sentences. On November 24, 2020, the Court granted the State's motion and ordered that Donko's aggregate sentence reflect an increase to 168-438 months. (I 197; 217A-217B).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 1, 2019, Las Vegas resident Ted Donko lived at 299

North Linn Lane. (IV 845). He spent most of that morning at home, and went to Sonic for food and to AutoZone across the street. (IV 846). Donko is a mechanic, and often worked on several cars at a time at his house. (IV 847). After high school, Donko admitted that he got into trouble and incurred convictions for attempted grand larceny and attempted burglary. (IV 845). Donko described his neighborhood as "rough," and said it is generally not a safe area of town; Donko testified that the neighborhood sees a lot of gang activity and gang violence. (IV 848). Donko had recently heard that a man nicknamed "Shorty" had been attacked in the area in the days leading up to the subject incident. (IV 849). Donko knew a man named

DeAndre Woods from the neighborhood, and he admitted that he and Woods had occasionally smoked marijuana together. (IV 847). Donko met Woods sometime in 2017, and had bought marijuana from Woods at times. (IV 847, 849). Donko testified that on the night of September 30, 2019, he had driven around the neighborhood in an older model sedan with a friend, and testified that the friend had taken him to a dispensary at about ten p.m. (IV 855, 858).

Jonathan Sanchez-Loza (Sanchez) lived at 104 Linn Lane in Las Vegas, Nevada. (III 680). At about 11:30 a.m. on the morning of October 1, 2019, he received a phone call from his friend, Fernando Espinoza, and went to meet him at 56 North Linn Lane. (III 681). Another friend named Chuck was already there with a friend named Gilbert. DeAndre Woods was also present. Sanchez and Espinoza planned to load some items from the house into a pickup truck. (III 663; 681).

Woods testified that the previous night, on September 30, 2019, he had been at his ex-girlfriend's house at 56 Linn Lane when two men asked him if he knew someone named "Shorty." Woods testified that one man wore a black shirt and that the other wore a red shirt. Woods claimed that he did not know the men, and that he told them he didn't know Shorty. He described one man as short and Mexican, and later identified the other as

Ted Donko. (III 705-06). The men left in an older Toyota after Woods's conversation with them. (III 706; IV 708).

The next day, Woods testified that he was clearing out some things from his ex-girlfriend's house at 56 Linn Lane and loading them into the white truck in the driveway. (IV 708). Although Woods did not know Espinoza and Sanchez very well, the two were helping him move things out of the house, along with Gilbert. (IV 709-10).

At around 12:15 p.m., Woods was sitting in a chair between the driveway and the truck when a Toyota pulled up in front of the house. (IV 712). Woods testified that a man got out of the car, said "Fuck Shorty," and started shooting. Woods heard multiple shots. (IV 713). Woods claimed that the shooter was the same man who had asked him about Shorty the previous night, and testified that the man was wearing a red shirt. (IV 713, 714). Woods testified that the car left and headed toward Charleston Boulevard. (IV 715).

Sanchez testified that as he was in the driveway sometime after noon, he heard someone ask, "Where's Shorty?" He looked around and saw a Toyota in the street and a man pointing a gun at him. Espinoza was behind Sanchez and behind the truck. (III 682-83). Sanchez testified that he was shot and fell to the ground in the driveway. (III 683). He heard about ten

rounds fired, and saw Espinoza also fall to the ground. (III 684). Sanchez called his uncle, and lost consciousness intermittently. He was shot in the thigh and leg. (III 684). Sanchez now walks with a cane and has a bullet permanently lodged in his leg. (III 685). Espinoza was shot in the arm and the abdomen, and spent weeks in the hospital. He underwent surgery on his right arm. (III 664). He bears a scar that runs from the middle of his hand to his wrist (III 664).

Local resident Genaro Ramos was working on his mother's car in the driveway of 5617 White Cap Street on the day of this incident. (III 693). He heard between eight and ten gunshots at around 12:15 p.m. (III 694). He testified that he subsequently saw an older, gold-colored Toyota Corolla speeding down his street a couple of minutes after he heard the gunshots. (III 695). The car stopped and a man got out of the car and began patting his waist and searching his pockets. (III 696). The man briefly returned to the car and then started walking north on Surf Lane. (III 696). Ramos described the man as a white male in his thirties who was wearing a red shirt. (III 697). Ramos identified the Toyota Corolla impounded by Metro as the car he saw speeding down his street. (III 698). Cathryn All resides at 5675 Big Sea Street. She provided video from her home's security system to Metro

officers which showed a man in a red shirt walking by her house at the approximate time of these events. (III 591-93).

On October 1, 2019, Metro police officer Alan Hennig was dispatched to the scene of a shooting at 56 North Linn Lane in Las Vegas, Nevada. The suspects had been described on the 911 call as two Hispanic men who had pulled up in a gray Toyota Corolla; the shooter was described as wearing red and about five feet, eleven inches in height; the driver was wearing black. When Hennig arrived at the scene, he found Sanchez and Espinoza lying in the driveway with gunshot wounds. One had been hit in the leg and the other through the hand and in the stomach. (III 544-45; 551). Hennig saw two bullet holes in the white truck parked in the driveway, and found eight shell casings in the street. (III 546). CSA Strumillo examined the casings and determined they were Winn 40 casings. (III 568-69). She identified three bullet holes on the white truck in the driveway, two bullet holes in the garage door, and damage to a chair in the driveway of the house. (III 572-76).

Metro Det. Jason Marin was also dispatched to the scene. (IV 806).

During his interview at the scene with DeAndre Woods, Woods told Marin that the shooter was a Hispanic male adult, about five feet eleven inches, with a shaved or bald head, and wearing a red t-shirt. (IV 809). Marin

testified that the cartridges found in the Toyota matched the casings found at the scene of the shooting. (IV 812).

Metro Officer Corbett was also dispatched to the scene and assisted in locating the Corolla involved in the shooting. Officers found the car in the general area of the shooting, a few blocks away from 56 N. Linn Lane. (III 553). The Corolla was unregistered and unoccupied when located. (III 554). An unspent round was found on the passenger floor of the car. (III 555). Metro Officer Gadea was also dispatched to the scene and canvassed the area for evidence. He found a red shirt on the side of the road near Big Sea and Sea Way streets, a few blocks from Linn Lane. (III 557-58).

CSA Strumillo examined several items of clothing from the scene, including a white tank top, shorts, DeAndre Woods's sweatpants, and a blue shirt. (III 579-82). Strumillo also located several bullet fragments under the white truck, in the bed of the truck, and near the chain link fence. (III 583-84). CSA Grover examined the grey Toyota Corolla found at 5677 White Cap. (III 601). Grover impounded a Win 40 Smith & Wesson cartridge from the car. (III 605). Grover also found a license plate between the seat and the console that he processed for prints. (III 606). Grover also looked for prints on the exterior and interior of the car, and submitted prints from the car doors and the license plate for testing. (III 607; 612).

Allison Rubino, a Metro forensic analyst, testified that she obtained a mixture of two DNA profiles from the red shirt retrieved by Metro officers; she testified that Donko's DNA profile was included in 99 percent of the DNA mixture, with the remaining one percent from an unknown contributor. (III 638). Metro forensic analyst Kathryn Aoyama testified that only one of the nine fingerprints collected by investigators was of sufficient quality for submission to the national Automated Fingerprint Identification System (AFIS). She testified that the print, taken from the license plate found inside the Toyota, matched with the left middle finger of Donko. (III 656, 659).

After viewing a photo lineup, Woods identified Donko as the shooter, and testified that he was "95 percent" sure of his identification. (IV 714; 720). Woods admitted that he had previously told detectives at the scene that the shooter was Hispanic. (IV 721). Woods admitted that he told detectives that the shooter had no tattoos, although Donko has numerous tattoos on his arms, neck, and face. (IV 721, 860). Although he failed to identify Donko during his initial testimony, Genearo Ramos was permitted to retake the stand during trial over the objection of the defense. Ramos testified that during his initial examination, he recognized Donko as the man he saw exiting the Toyota on the day of the shooting. (IV 759).

At trial, Donko testified in his own defense. He denied owning a gun, and denied being involved in this shooting. (IV 845). Donko denied meeting or knowing Fernando Espinoza. Donko denied having any problems with Woods or Sanchez, both of whom he knew from the neighborhood. (IV 849). Donko testified that he had stored some of his clothing in a car for a brief period while he was homeless, and that some of his clothes had been taken in a car burglary. (IV 861). Donko steadfastly maintained his innocence in these events and testified under oath that he had no involvement in this shooting. (IV 845-46).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse these convictions based on insufficient evidence, prosecutorial misconduct, erroneous rulings during the trial and sentencing phases of this case, and the overwhelmingly prejudicial admission of an unreliable and unconstitutional in-court identification.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. The court violated Donko's federal and state due process rights
under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments by admitting an
unconstitutionally unreliable in-court identification.

The Due Process Clause of the United States and Nevada

Constitutions forbids a criminal prosecution to be based upon any witness's

identification that was procured under circumstances that were unnecessarily suggestive and likely to have resulted in a mistake that cannot be repaired." Johnson v. State, 131 Nev. 567, 574-75, 354 P.3d 667, 672-73 (Ct. App. 2015). Whether evidence is relevant lies in the discretion of the trial court, and appellate courts will review for abuse of discretion. Sterling v. State, 108 Nev. 391, 395, 834 P.2d 400, 403 (1992). "The decision to deny a motion for a mistrial rests within the district court's discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent a clear showing of abuse." Ledbetter v. State, 122 Nev. 252, 264, 129 P.3d 671, 680 (2006) (quoting Randolph v. State, 117 Nev. 970, 981, 36 P.3d 424, 431 (2001)) (internal quotation marks omitted). "A defendant's request for a mistrial may be granted for any number of reasons where some prejudice occurs that prevents the defendant from receiving a fair trial." Rudin v. State, 120 Nev. 121, 144, 86 P.3d 572, 587 (2004) (footnote omitted). Appellate courts review the erroneous denial of a mistrial for harmless error. See Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 388-89, 849 P.2d 1062, 1065-66 (1993) (holding that the erroneous denial of a mistrial was harmless because the evidence of guilt was overwhelming).

When Genaro Ramos completed his testimony, he was released from his subpoena. However, the State recalled him to the stand based on Ramos's ex parte communication to prosecutors that Ramos had now

identified Donko as the man he saw getting out of the Toyota on the day of the shooting. (IV 755-56). Ramos testified that he had indicated to the prosecutor that he was nervous because, "The guy that I saw is the guy that I was going to point him, that that was the guy that I saw coming out of the car." (IV 756). The defense immediately objected and the court held a bench conference. The defense objected that Ramos had failed to identify Donko when he testified, and that the admission of this additional testimony was improper and prejudicial because Ramos had been able to stare at Donko for several minutes while Donko was seated at the defense table. The defense moved to strike the identification based on the impermissibly suggestive circumstances of the identification and the prejudice to the defense. (IV 756). The defense noted that Ramos's identification had essentially ambushed the defense in the middle of trial, noting that the State had never advised that Ramos was now able to identify Donko. The defense moved for a mistrial. (IV 758). The court denied the motion for a mistrial. (IV 758). The court rejected the defense motion to strike the testimony and permitted Ramos to continue his testimony. (IV 758-59). Ramos resumed testifying and stated that Donko was the man he saw exiting the Toyota on the day of the shooting. (IV 759). Ramos admitted that he had never previously suggested that he could identify the man he saw exiting the Toyota. (IV

764). Ramos admitted that of the three men at the defense table, only Donko resembled the man he saw on the day of the shooting. (IV 765).

This Court should reverse these convictions because Donko's substantial rights under the Nevada and U.S. Constitutions were violated by the district court's abuse of discretion in admitting Ramos's in-court identification into evidence. The circumstances of this identification were so "unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification" that the admission of this testimony violated due process. Foster v. California, 394 U.S. 440, 442 (1969) (quoting Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 302 (1967)) (overruled on other grounds, Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314 (1987)). In analyzing whether the totality of the circumstances makes an identification unconstitutionally suggestive, courts must be cognizant that, "the primary evil to be avoided is 'a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 198 (1972) (quoting Simmons v. U.S., 390 U.S. 377, 384 (1948)).

Here, Ramos's initial descriptions of the man in the Toyota were not specific enough to prompt Det. Marin to show Ramos a photo lineup. Ramos described the man only as a "white male in his 30s" who was wearing a red shirt. (III 697). He did not notice any tattoos on the man. (III 702). Ramos admitted he was never shown a photo lineup, and did not identify Donko

during his initial testimony. (III 699). While Ramos was on the stand, he would have seen Donko seated next to the defense attorney who cross-examined him on the stand. Only after seeing Donko in this setting was Ramos able to muster a definite identification. Under these circumstances, this Court should find the admission of this identification an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court. *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 197, 93 S. Ct. 375, 381, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972). This Court should find that the admission of an in-court identification by a witness who failed to make any out-of-court identifications, and failed to notice the defendant's most obvious physical characteristic during the previous confrontation, constitutes reversible error:

It is the likelihood of misidentification which violates a defendant's right to due process, and it is this which was the basis of the exclusion of evidence in Foster. Suggestive confrontations are disapproved because they increase the likelihood of misidentification, and unnecessarily suggestive ones are condemned for the further reason that the increased chance of misidentification is gratuitous.

Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198.

Court generally consider five factors in evaluating the likelihood of misidentification: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness' degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and (5) the length of time

between the crime and the confrontation. *Biggers* at 199-200. In analyzing the reliability of an in-court identification, the Nevada Supreme Court considers the same factors enunciated in *Biggers*. *Taylor v. State*, 132 Nev. 309, 322, 371 P.3d 1036, 1045 (2016), citing *Browning v. State*, 104 Nev. 269, 273–74, 757 P.2d 351, 353–54 (1988); *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188 at 199–200.

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