IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Apr 08 2021 11:31 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

TED MICHAEL DONKO,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 81075

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

AUDREY M. CONWAY Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #005611 309 South Third Street, Ste. 226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

not including the deadly weapon enhancements, as 108 to 288 months. I AA 194-96.

On June 3, 2020, the State filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Address Aggregate Sentence Calculations, wherein the State argued that the appropriate aggregate sentence, based upon the charges at sentencing, was 168 to 438 months. I AA 197-204. On November 24, 2020, the district court explained by way of Minute Order that while it made a clerical error and miscalculated the aggregate sentence on the day of sentencing, it held that it appropriately ruled that the weapon enhancements for the Attempt Murder charges would run consecutive to those charges and Count 3 would run consecutive to Counts 1 and 2. I AA 217A. Accordingly, the district court found that the appropriate aggregate sentence was 168 to 438 months and ordered that an Amended Judgment of Conviction be filed. V AA 217A.

As a preliminary matter, this issue is moot. An amended judgment of conviction reflecting the district court's correction of the aggregate total sentence has not yet been filed. Minute orders indicate that is the district court's intent, but with no amended judgment of conviction having been filed, the Court should not consider the claim until the judgment of conviction is officially amended by the

¹ Understandably, no amended JOC is included in Appellant's Appendix because it does not exist.

filing of an amended judgment of conviction or, at the very least, the case should be remanded for the limited purpose of correcting the judgment of conviction in accordance with the district court's minute order. I AA 217A.

The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that "no person shall 'be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb.'" <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 128 Nev. 598, 604, 291 P.3d 1274, 1277-78 (2012). The Clause protects against multiple punishments for the same offense. Id.

A judgment of conviction may be amended at any time to correct a clerical error. NRS 176.565. The district court explained at sentencing exactly which counts would run concurrent and which would run consecutive, but merely committed error in how it added the individual sentences to reach the total aggregate sentence. Indeed, the district court specified at sentencing and again in its November 24, 2020 Minute Order, that only Counts 3, 4, and 5 were to run consecutive. V AA 974; I AA 217A. Applying that language and adding the sentences, the appropriate total aggregate sentence would have been 168 to 438 months as opposed to the 144 to 378 months that the district court first calculated.² Accordingly, the district court did not

-

 $^{^2}$ The calculation should have been as follows: The greatest of the concurrent sentences (24 to 60 months) + the consecutive sentences of Counts 3, 4, and 5 ((36 to 96) + (36 to 96) + (36 to 96)) + the consecutive deadly weapon enhancement sentences for Counts 3, 4, and 5 ((12 to 30) + (12 to 30)). The minimum

punish Donko for the same crime twice, but instead checked its work and corrected its error in adding the sentences.

Despite the district court's clear explanation of its intent, Donko argues that the district court erroneously corrected its error in such a way that erroneously increased Donko's sentence even though there was a less severe option available. Donko relies on Miranda v. State, 114 Nev. 385, 956 P.2d 1377 (1998), to support his argument. However, Miranda is completely distinguishable from the instant case. In Miranda, the defendant was sentenced to two consecutive terms of 18 to 36 months. Id. at 386, 956 P.2d at 1377. The district court later determined that such calculation violated the rule under NRS 193.130(1) which states that a minimum term of imprisonment "must not exceed 40 percent of the maximum term imposed." Id. In light of this revelation, the district court corrected the illegal sentence by increasing the maximum term of the sentence. Id. This Court has explained that while a district court has the authority to correct illegal sentences and even increase the punishment, to comply with Double Jeopardy principles in may only increase the punishment

when necessary to bring the sentence into compliance with the pertinent statute, and a correction that increases sentence severity is 'necessary' only when there is no other, less severe means of correcting the illegality.

sentence is 24+(36x3)+(12x3) 168, and the maximum sentence is 60+(96x3)+(30x3) = 438 months.

24

Id. at 387, 956 P.2d at 1378. Accordingly, the district court erred because it could have corrected the illegal sentence by decreasing the minimum term as opposed to the increasing the maximum term. Id.

Unlike the district court in Miranda that altered an illegal sentence by increasing it, here the district court did not correct an illegal sentence but instead corrected the language in the judgment of conviction that reflected a miscalculation of the total aggregate sentence. In other words, the district court did not increase Donko's aggregate sentence because it was illegal, but instead modified the aggregate sentence language to comply with the original individual sentences it pronounced. Accordingly, Miranda does not apply to the instant case.

In addition to Miranda being inapplicable to the instant case, Donko's argument that the district court's error was a miscalculation rather than a clerical error equally fails. AOB at 24-26. NRS 176.565 states:

Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors in the record arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time and after such notice, if any, as the court orders.

(emphasis added). Indeed, this Court has stated that "a judgment may be amended at any time to correct a clerical error..." Sullivan v. State, 120 Nev. 537, 540, 96 P.3d 761, 764 (2004).

Donko asserts that the district court's miscalculation of the aggregate sentence in this case was not a clerical error that the district court could amend. Donko's argument fails as this Court has held that a miscalculation of an aggregate sentence in a judgment of conviction is in fact a clerical error that a district court can amend. Devlin v. State, 448 P.3d 550, unpublished, 2019 WL 4392531, Docket No. 73518 (Nev. 2019) (concluding that the district court committed a clerical error when, based on the individual counts, the aggregate minimum sentence totaled eleven years instead of twelve years in the original judgment of conviction). Therefore, at most, the district court committed a clerical error that it corrected in its November 24, 2020 Minute Order. Accordingly, Donko's claim fails.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT'S ALLEGED ERROR REGARDING RESTITUTION IS WAIVED AND/OR HARMLESS

Donko argues that the district court erred when it retained jurisdiction over restitution at Donko's sentencing hearing. AOB at 26-28. The State agrees that the district court erred, but the appropriate remedy is not reversal.

On April 20, 2020, the Court sentenced Donko, but stated that it would retain jurisdiction as to any restitution amount. I AA 194-96; V AA 972-75. The State agrees that a Judgment of Conviction is not final when it omits an amount for Restitution. NRS 176.105(1)(c); Whitehead v. State, 128 Nev. 259, 263, 285 P.3d 1053, 1055 (2012) (concluding "that a judgment of conviction that imposes a restitution obligation but does not specific its terms is not a final judgment.").

In the State's Motion to Dismiss, it argued that the appropriate remedy for the district court's error was to remand the matter to the district court because the Court

did not have jurisdiction over the matter. The State cited to Slaatee v. State, 129 Nev. 219, 221, 298 P.3d 1170, 1171 (2013), in which the Court outlined the appropriate procedure. In Slaatte, the district court failed to provide a specific amount of restitution because it was concerned that the victim might incur additional medical expenses. Id. at 221-22, 298 P.3d at 1171. While recognizing the district court's reasoning, this Court dismissed the defendant's appeal because of a lack of jurisdiction as it stated:

None of our prior decisions addressed whether the judgment was final given its failure to comply with NRS 176.105(1). If such a judgment is not appealable as a final judgment, see NRS 177.015(3), we lack jurisdiction over this appeal. See Castillo v. State, 106 Nev. 349, 352, 792 P.2d 1133, 1135 (1990) (explaining that court has jurisdiction only when statute or court rule provides for appeal). Our recent decision in Whitehead v. State, 128 Nev. —, 285 P.3d 1053 (2012), is controlling. In that case, we considered whether a judgment of conviction that imposed restitution but did not specify the amount of restitution was sufficient to trigger the one-year period under NRS 34.726 for filing a post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus. Id. at —, 285 P.3d at 1055. Based on the requirement in NRS 176.105(1)(c) that the amount of restitution be included in the judgment of conviction if the court imposes restitution, we concluded "that a judgment of conviction that imposes a restitution obligation but does not specify its terms is not a final judgment" and therefore it does not trigger the one-year period for filing a habeas petition. Id. Given our decision in Whitehead that such a judgment is not a final judgment, we necessarily conclude that it also is not appealable.

(emphasis added). Indeed, all of the aforementioned case law demonstrates why, ordinarily, the appropriate remedy for the error in the instant case is to return the matter to the district court because this Court does not have jurisdiction. These cases remain good law and were not overturned by this Court's subsequent decision in Witter v. State, 135 Nev. 412, 452 P.3d 406 (2019).

On the other hand, the circumstance underlying the Witter decision is not factually similar to the instant case. In Witter, 135 Nev. at 415-16, 452 P.3d at 409-410, the defendant treated his Judgment of Conviction as final for several appeals and petition for writ of habeas corpus pleadings. In light of this treatment, the Court concluded that the defendant was estopped from reversing course and subsequently claiming, for the first time, that the Judgment of Conviction was not final when the district court retained jurisdiction over restitution. Id. The Court further explained that estoppel was warranted because of the importance of finality and, more specifically, "a challenge to a conviction made years after the conviction is a burden on the parties and the courts because [m]emories of the crime may diminish and become attenuated, and the record may not be sufficiently preserved." Id. at 416, 452 P.3d at 409 (internal citation omitted).

Not only is the instant case distinguishable because Donko is raising the restitution error in his first timely appeal, but also for that same reason the aforementioned policy reasons underlying this Court's decision in Witter do not appear to apply to Donko. In other words, the Witter Court, was concerned about overturning what was, at that point, years of appeals because of a not-technicallyfinal judgment of conviction that the defendant had treated as final the whole time.

Here, Donko immediately challenged the judgment of conviction in his opening brief in his first appeal. The State also challenged the judgment of conviction immediately, arguing that the appeal should be dismissed and the case remanded for the restitution determination so the judgment of conviction would be final. Both Parties argued that the judgment of conviction was not final at the earliest opportunity. And, if the Judgment of Conviction is not final, then this Court lacks jurisdiction over the entire appeal. NRS 177.015(3); Castillo v. State, 106 Nev. 349, 352, 792 P.2d 1133, 1135 (1990). Despite the jurisdictional challenge, this Court did not dismiss the appeal, and relied on Witter in doing so. Because the Witter Court relied on estoppel to overcome a jurisdictional issue, one of three things must be occurring. Either Donko waived the argument that the judgment of conviction was not final when he encouraged the Court to address the merits of the appeal, or the Court waived Donko's argument for him to retain jurisdiction over an appeal that it otherwise would not have if the judgment of conviction was not final, or this Court is overturning Whitehead v. State and is now holding that reserving jurisdiction over restitution does not prevent a judgment of conviction from being a final order, despite NRS 176.015(1)(c). In either of the first two scenarios, Donko's arguments are waived, and in the third scenario the district court did not err by reserving jurisdiction over restitution.

Regardless, even if this Court concludes that Donko did not waive any arguments, the district court's decision to retain jurisdiction over restitution would be harmless error. See NRS 178.598; Knipes, 124 Nev. at 935, 192 P.3d at 1183; Chapman, 386 U.S. at 24, 87 S. Ct. at 828; Tavares, 117 Nev. at 732 n.14, 30 P.3d at 1132 n.14. All of the previous case law on this issue suggested that, except for the circumstance presented in Witter, the remedy for such an error was to remand a case to the district court because this Court lacked jurisdiction, and order the district court to include the restitution, if any, in the judgment of conviction and make a final order. In this case, the Court concluded that the general practice was not appropriate. Other than the technical defect of retaining jurisdiction over restitution, the district court did not commit an appealable error, so there is no remedy. At best, Donko has issued a complaint about an action the district court might make in the future but has not yet done. In conclusion, assuming the Court still intends for a judgment of conviction which does not set an amount of restitution to not be a final order, respectfully the Court should either hold that Donko waived the argument when he motioned to have his appeal considered or should remand for the limited purpose of determining restitution and correct the sentence as discussed *supra* in Section III. Accordingly, the instant issue is most because no justiciable case or controversy exists. If an error has no remedy, it is obviously harmless.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT VIOLATE DONKO'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS BY REJECTING THE PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS

Donko claims that the district court abused its discretion when it rejected some of his proposed jury instructions. AOB at 28-34. Specifically, he believes that the district court should have permitted the following instructions: (1) a modified reasonable doubt instruction, (2) a two reasonable interpretations instruction, (3) a reasonable doubt and subjective certitude instruction, (4) several negatively-worded instructions pursuant to <u>Crawford v. State</u>, and (5) having "not guilty" appear first on the verdict form. AOB at 28-34.

District courts have "broad discretion" to settle jury instructions. <u>Cortinas v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1013, 1019, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008). District courts' decisions settling jury instructions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 746, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2003). This Court reviews whether an instruction is an accurate statement of the law de novo. <u>Cortinas</u>, 124 Nev. at 1019, 195 P.3d at 319. Further, instructional errors are harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error," and the error is not the type that would undermine certainty in the verdict. <u>Wegner v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155–56, 14 P.3d 25, 30 (2000), overruled on other grounds, <u>Rosas v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1258, 147 P.3d 1101 (2006); <u>see also</u> NRS 178.598.

A. Reasonable Doubt Proposed Instruction

Donko argues that he should have been permitted to use a reasonable doubt instruction that substituted the word "unless" for "until" because the instruction as given minimized Donko's presumption of innocence. AOB at 28-29. Specifically, Donko proposed the following instruction in relevant part:

A defendant in a criminal action is presumed to be innocent *unless* the contrary is proved. This presumption places upon the state the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt every material element of the crime charged and that the Defendant is the person who committed the offense.

I AA 178 (emphasis added).

The district court rejected Donko's proposed amendment and agreed with the State that NRS 175.211 provides the statutory mandated language for a reasonable doubt instruction and that the jury instruction the State proposed was the customary reasonable doubt instruction given. IV AA 780.

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